OCT 2 1 2013

Frank A.	McGuire	Clark
----------	---------	-------

Deputy

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE	) Case No. S210898
OF CALIFORNIA,	)
	) Court of Appeal No.
Plaintiff and Respondent,	) D060317
	<sup>1</sup> )
v.	) Superior Court No.
	) BAF004719
VINCE BRYAN SMITH,	)
	)
Defendant and Petitioner.	)
	)

## **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Gregory L. Cannon, No. 135635 Cannon & Harris, Attorneys at Law 6046 Cornerstone Court West, Suite 141 San Diego, California 92121-4733 (619) 392-2936

Attorney for Petitioner VINCE BRYAN SMITH

# TABLE OF CUNTENES

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Vince Bryan Smith was convicted by jury of two counts of second degree murder (Pen. Code, § 187, subd. (a), counts one and two). The jury found true an allegation that the offenses were committed for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a criminal street gang with the specific intent to promote, further or assist in criminal conduct by gang members (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (b)). The jury also convicted petitioner of being an active member of a criminal street gang (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (a), count three). (19 CT 4084-4091, 4102-4103; 42 RT 8523-8529.)

The trial court sentenced petitioner to 15 years to life in state prison on count one (Pen. Code, § 187, subd. (a)). The court imposed and stayed a consecutive 10-year term pursuant to Penal Code section 186.22, subdivision (b). The court imposed a concurrent term of 15 years to life on count two and stayed the enhancement. The court imposed a concurrent two-year term on count three (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (a)). (19 CT 4249-4250; 1 AUG RT 61-65.) Petitioner timely filed a notice of appeal. (19 CT 4273.)

On June 8, 2012, Division One of the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District issued an opinion in which it reduced petitioner's court security fees and struck an enhancement pursuant to Penal Code section

136.22, subdivision (b)(1). The court otherwise affirmed petitioner's conviction and sentence.

On June 29, 2012, the Court of Appeal summarily denied petitioner's petition for rehearing. On September 12, 2012, this Court granted petitioner's petition for review and transferred the matter back to the Court of Appeal with directions to reconsider its decision in light of *People v. Mesa* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 191.

On April 15, 2013, the Court of Appeal again issued an opinion, in which the court stayed sentence on count three, reduced petitioner's court security fees to \$30 per count and struck the enhancement pursuant to Penal Code section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1). The court again otherwise affirmed petitioner's conviction and sentence.

On July 17, 2013, this Court again granted review but limited the issue to the question whether petitioner properly was convicted of murder under the natural and probable consequences theory of aiding and abetting.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### Introduction

At a very basic level, the facts in this case are relatively simple. Robert M. -- petitioner Vince Smith's younger brother -- joined a Banning area dance crew called the YAH Squad (YAH) sometime around Thanksgiving in 2005. On February 7, 2006, Robert was to be jumped out of YAH at an apartment complex located at 655 E. Williams in Banning.

Unsurprisingly, the jump out was attended by a number of people. For the purposes of this brief, petitioner submits that it is helpful to place these people into three distinct groups. The first group consists of members of the YAH squad who were present but did not directly participate in the actual fight. The second group is comprised of Robert and the people he fought during his jump out. The third group is comprised of petitioner and the three or four people he brought to the jump out to help him make sure Robert was not hurt too badly in the fight.

Two of the people petitioner brought to the fight, Demetrius Hunt and Vincent McCarthy, were killed when gunfire erupted at the end of the fight. The record does not reveal who fired the fatal shots, but it is clear that the shots were not fired by petitioner, the direct perpetrators of the fight, or anyone directly aided or abetted by petitioner.

The prosecutor below tried petitioner for murder on the theory that he was liable for the killing as an aider and abettor under a natural and probable consequences theory, based on the supposition that whoever fired the fatal shots was a principal in the target offense by virtue of the fact that that person also aided and abetted Robert and the people he fought with.

# 655 E. Williams: The YAH Squad

In 2006, LaRuth Littleton lived in an apartment located at 655 E. Williams in Banning. (29 RT 5620-5621.) Littleton had at least 41 grandchildren, including Tovey M., Wealton M., Lavert L., Deshawn L. and Reggie M.<sup>1</sup> (29 RT 5622, 5624-5629; 38 RT 7539.) Deshawn, Reggie and Lavert were members of a group that called themselves the YAH Squad (YAH).<sup>2</sup> (33 RT 6596; 38 RT 7539, 7541.) Other members of YAH included Lamarr S., Jermarr S., Dalton D., Lonnie W., Aaron L., Ed S., Demontre C., Clayton W. and Jesus H. (33 RT 6582, 6585, 6591; 35 RT 6969-6971; 38 RT 7516-7517, 7533-7534, 7523, 7536-7537, 7562; 39 RT 7685.)

YAH was described by several of its members as being a clique or a dance crew as opposed to a gang. (29 RT 5800, 5842; 32 RT 6405; 33 RT

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Petitioner will refer to the players by their first names out of an abundance of caution because many of these individuals clearly were minors, while the age of others was not clearly stated in the record.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "YAH" stands for Young Ass Hustlers. (29 RT 5800, 5842; 35 RT 6948; 38 RT 7521; 40 RT 8070.)

6696, 6698; 34 RT 6835, 6855, 6873; 35 RT 6947, 6962-6963, 6991, 7002, 7093-7094; 37 RT 7274; 38 RT 7543, 7653; 39 RT 7772-7773.) Anyone who wanted to join YAH had to be jumped in. (35 RT 6949, 7096.) Members of YAH who wanted out of the group had to be beaten out. (35 RT 6978.)

Considerable evidence was introduced to show that Deshawn, Lavert, Tovey and other members of the Littleton clan were affiliated with Blood gangs in addition to their membership in YAH. (29 RT 5622-5623, 5754-5756; 33 RT 6586, 6597; 35 RT 7002, 7100; 37 RT 7396-7400; 38 RT 7545-7547, 7653; 39 RT 7831-7835, 7889-7891, 7898; 40 RT 7931, 7950-7952, 7956-7957, 7976, 8010-8011, 8016-8017, 8025.) Other members of YAH, however, had social and family ties to Crip gangs. (18 CT 3944-3945, 3967; 33 RT 6704-6705, 6709; 35 RT 6988; 38 RT 7508, 7511, 7431, 7447, 7550-7551, 7591; 39 RT 7763; 40 RT 8088-8091, 8119, 8174.) Petitioner was identified by several witnesses as being a member of the Gateway Posse Crips. (18 CT 3944-3945, 3967; 35 RT 7003; 36 RT 7141; 37 RT 7359; 40 RT 8096.)

## Robert M. Joins and Then Decides to Quit the YAH Squad

Sometime around Thanksgiving 2005, petitioner's brother Robert was "jumped in" to the YAH Squad. (33 RT 6693-6696, 6698, 6706, 6715-6720; 34 RT 6835, 6855, 6868, 6873.) Not long after he was jumped in,

Robert realized that joining YAH had not been a good idea. (34 RT 6874.) Robert decided that he wanted out of YAH after Aaron told him he wanted to beat his ass. (33 RT 6732-6734; 34 RT 6860, 6868.) Robert believed Aaron was angry because Robert had not been spending much time "with these guys." (33 RT 6733; 34 RT 6868-6869.) Robert had to be jumped out. Otherwise, he would get beaten up for disrespecting them every time he refused to have anything to do with members of YAH. (34 RT 6876.)

Demetrius Hunt came to live with Robert three or four days before the shootings. (33 RT 6745.) Hunt told petitioner that Robert had problems with the YAH Squad. (34 RT 6875.) Petitioner told Robert, "We need to get you out of that." (33 RT 6727-6728; 34 RT 6877.) Petitioner told Robert several times "not to be hanging around with them like that." (33 RT 6728-6730.)

# The Incident at the Sportsman's Liquor Store

Demontre C. and Lonnie both had heard that Robert was going to be disciplined because he wasn't representing YAH. He wasn't hanging out with YAH members, wasn't representing the hood and was missing meetings or gatherings. Demontre understood that to mean that there was going to be a fight. (37 RT 7277-7278, 7281-7282, 7360, 7374; 39 RT 7709.) Lonnie told Demetrius Hunt that Robert was going to be disciplined by Deshawn. (38 RT 7552-7553, 7556., 7559) Ed also spoke to Hunt about

the pending discipline. (38 RT 7554.)

A couple of days before February 6, 2006, Demontre, Deshawn, Ed and Lonnie waited outside a liquor store, hoping to find someone who would be willing to buy "blunts" for them. (35 RT 6952-6954, 6959-6960; 36 RT 7165.) Petitioner drove up, got out of his car and called Ed over. Petitioner asked Ed who was supposed to put their hands on petitioner's little brother.<sup>3</sup> (35 RT 6961, 6974-6976; 36 RT 7165-7168; 38 RT 7563; 39 RT 7729-7730, 7760.) Ed asked petitioner who was his brother. When petitioner identified Robert, Ed told him that no one was supposed to put their hands on him. (35 RT 6976; 36 RT 7168-7169; 38 RT 7565-7567; 39 RT 7761.) Petitioner said, "I want my brother off of that shit," meaning he wanted Robert out of the YAH Squad. (35 RT 6977-6978, 7010; 36 RT 7169; 37 RT 7282-7283, 7375.) Ed responded, "That's no problem." (35 RT 6977.) Petitioner said, "I'll kill one of you little niggers over my brother." (38 RT 7565-7566; 39 RT 7783.)

Petitioner then walked into the liquor store before leaving the scene. (35 RT 6977.) Petitioner was not showing any emotion when he left. (36 RT 7171.) As petitioner drove away, he threw up a finger gesture that looked to Lonnie like the letter "G." (38 RT 7568.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Demontre C. testified that petitioner was really mad. (35 RT 6975-6976.)

Ed was angry after petitioner left. He said that petitioner came up at him foul. (35 RT 6980-6981; 36 RT 7171.) Deshawn also was upset. He also said that petitioner came up at him foul. (35 RT 6980-6981, 6985; 36 RT 7172.) Deshawn said, more than once, that he was "going to beat the fuck out of that nigger." (35 RT 6983-6985.) Deshawn talked about calling Tovey and began to hit his open palm with his fist. (38 RT 7569-7570.)

# The Incident at the Peppertree Apartments

A couple of days before the shooting, petitioner became embroiled in a dispute with Tovey and others at an apartment complex near 655 E. Williams. Several other members of the Littleton clan were present, including Deshawn, Lavert, Wealton and Reggie. (29 RT 5816, 5819-5820; 36 RT 7182-7183; 38 RT 7582-7583; 39 RT 7705-7706.) Petitioner and Tovey argued about what had happened at the liquor store. (29 RT 5818-5819, 5822, 5826-5828, 5845-5846; 35 RT 7013-7018; 36 RT 7183-7186; 38 RT 7583-7584, 7586, 7661-7662; 39 RT 7686-7687, 7706, 7786.) The confrontation was broken up before petitioner and Tovey could fight. (29 RT 5822-5824, 5826, 5836-5837, 5845-5847; 35 RT 7015, 7018-7019.)

During the confrontation, petitioner told Tovey that he did not want his brother "in that shit." (35 RT 7015.) Tovey responded that it was no problem with that. (35 RT 7015.) Petitioner said something like, "Well, like let me make sure. I'm going to bring some of my homies to make sure none

of this shit pop off." (35 RT 7015-7016; 36 RT 7186-7187.) Tovey responded, "I know you're not talking about gunplay." (35 RT 7016.)

## February 7, 2006: The YAH Squad Assembles for the Jump Out

On February 7, 2006, members of YAH were present at the apartment complex at 655 E. Williams when petitioner arrived for the jump out. Petitioner and the people who arrived with him walked down the driveway toward the lawn at the front of the complex, followed by Deshawn, Jermarr, Aaron, Ed and Wealton. (18 CT 3937-3942; 28 RT 5368-5369; 33 RT 6602-6603, 6611-6619, 6641, 6650-6655, 6748, 6762, 6769-6770; 35 RT 7043-7049; 36 RT 7201, 7207-7212, 7215-7216, 7229; 37 RT 7295-7296, 7344-7246, 7296, 7299; 38 RT 7608-7609, 7612-7616; 39 RT 7735-7738, 7779, 7813.) Lonnie and Jesus also were there. (33 RT 6761, 6771; 34 RT 6861, 6881, 6900.)

Tovey and Lavert were there with the others. (35 RT 7034-7035, 7074; 36 RT 7197.) At some point in time, either before or after petitioner and his group arrived, Demontre saw Tovey give what appeared to be a gun to Deshawn. (35 RT 7040-7041; 37 RT 7246-7247, 7345-7348, 7361-7365-7369.)

# Robert M.'s Version of How They Went to 655 E. Williams the Day of the Shootings

Robert testified that he and petitioner picked up Demetrius Hunt and Vincent McCarthy and petitioner drove them all to 655 East Williams. (33

RT 6735, 6745-6748, 6752-5753; 34 RT 6861, 6880.) Earner that day, petitioner told Robert they were going there so that Robert could be jumped out of YAH. (33 RT 6736, 6748-6750, 6756; 34 RT 6843-6844, 6874, 6915.)

Julian McKee also accompanied petitioner and the others to 655 E. Williams. McKee told police officers that petitioner asked him to accompany them to the scene of the fight to help petitioner ensure that Robert was not beaten too badly during the fight. (18 CT 3896-3899, 3901-3903, 3906; 3930-3932; 3939-3940, 3945-3948, 3957, 3967, 3971.) McCarthy was supposed to be packing. They were going to shoot if the other gang shot at them. (18 CT 3971-3972.) District Attorney Investigator Casey testified that McKee told her petitioner also had a gun. The interview was audio and video recorded but McKee's statement did not appear in the recording and Casey did not remember whether McKee's response was oral or physical. (18 CT 3993-3994; 28 RT 5516-5517, 5564-5565; 29 RT 5573.)

# The Fight

After they arrived at the scene, petitioner asked Robert who had jumped him in. Robert pointed to Aaron and Ed. (33 RT 6763-6764; 34 RT 6862, 6881-6882.) Petitioner said that they should not do it in the parking lot because someone could get their head busted on the concrete. He

suggested that they go to the first apartment. (33 RT 6765-6766, 6769.)

Lonnie testified that petitioner appeared to be directing the jump out. (39 RT 7670.) The jump out was supposed to be about YAH and Lonnie expected Deshawn to be the one to direct what happened. Petitioner was confronting Deshawn's authority when he gave directions to the others. Deshawn already had said that there would be no guns. (38 RT 7654-7655.) Lonnie claimed that it was unusual for someone outside YAH to be giving direction to YAH members. (38 RT 7654; 39 RT 7787.)

Upon reaching the lawn at the front of the complex, someone suggested that they do it right there. (38 RT 7617; 39 RT 7673.) The people on the lawn moved back to give petitioner and Robert room to come in. (35 RT 7044-7045; 36 RT 7213-7215, 7229; 37 RT 7344.) Deshawn said to Aaron and Ed, "You guys know what you guys got to do." (33 RT 6771-6773, 6800.)

Robert, Aaron and Ed squared off on the grass. (33 RT 6773.) Petitioner stood by the white picket fence, roughly three feet from Robert. (33 RT 6774-6776.) McCarthy stood by some plants, roughly opposite of petitioner. (33 RT 6775.) Hunt stood behind Robert. (33 RT 6775-6776.) Lonnie and Jermarr stood by some concrete at the tip of the grass. (33 RT 6776-6777.) Deshawn leaned against a brick wall behind Lonnie. (33 RT 6777; 34 RT 6849; 38 RT 7623; 39 RT 7801.) Jesus stood next to

petitioner. (33 RT 6777; 34 RT 6884.) Jesus was not involved in the fight, but he acted as though he was upset. (38 RT 7623.)

As the fight was about to start, petitioner twice said that he did not want anyone to kick his brother in the head. (38 RT 7626; 39 RT 7739.) Robert threw the first punch at Aaron and the three of them began to fight. (33 RT 6777-6779; 34 RT 6844, 6862-6863, 6887-6888, 6908; 35 RT 7052, 7054; 36 RT 7230; 37 RT 7300-7301; 38 RT 7628; 39 RT 7673, 7769, 7717-7718, 7769-7770.) Aaron got the better of Robert, knocking him to the ground. (33 RT 6779-6780; 38 RT 7629; 39 RT 7717-7718, 7739, 7754.) They continued to hit Robert while he was on the ground. (36 RT 7231; 37 RT 7302, 7305-7307; 38 RT 7630; 39 RT 7740.) Robert stopped fighting, lay on his side and attempted to cover up. (37 RT 7302, 7307, 7309.)

Petitioner went to Robert and picked him up off the ground. (18 CT 3952, 3972, 3989-3990; 33 RT 6781-6782, 6784-6785; 34 RT 6864, 6885; 38 RT 7629-7631; 39 RT 7718, 7754.) Jesus became angry and yelled out, "Fuck that JR.<sup>4</sup> He got put on by four people." (38 RT 7631; 39 RT 7718.) Petitioner responded, "Fuck you." (38 RT 7632.) Petitioner walked over to Jesus and took a swing at him. Jesus blocked the punch. (33 RT 6785-6790; 34 RT 6884; 38 RT 7633-7635; 39 RT 7718-7719, 7755, 7797-7798,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Petitioner is called "JR." (33 RT 6694, 6721.)

7810.) Petitioner's right hand was in his pocket. (38 RT 7634.)

Lonnie testified that Curlee Mitchell ran over to petitioner, grabbed him and told him to calm down. (38 RT 7636-7637; 39 RT 7754-7755, 7810-7811.) Lonnie heard a gunshot as Mitchell told petitioner to calm down. (38 RT 7637-7638; 39 RT 7755-7756, 7798, 7811.) Lonnie testified that the shot came from where Deshawn was standing. Only Deshawn was there. (39 RT 7756, 7801.) Lonnie did not see petitioner pull a gun or fire a gun. (39 RT 7719-7720.) Nor did Lonnie see Hunt or McCarthy pull a gun. (39 RT 7720.)

Demontre C. testified that petitioner pulled a gun and said, "Fuck this shit." (35 RT 7063-7064; 37 RT 7240-7241, 7303, 7307-7309, 7329, 7354.) Petitioner pointed his gun at the group that still was beating Robert. (37 RT 7310.) Tovey and Deshawn also pulled guns. (35 RT 7065; 37 RT 7242-7245; 37 RT 7245, 7309-7310, 7331, 7354, 7368.) Demontre admitted telling the police that Tovey fired first but claimed he did not see Tovey fire first. (37 RT 7242, 7349-7350, 7369-7370.) Demontre denied telling the police that Deshawn fired several shots. (37 RT 7244.)

Considerable evidence was adduced to show that Demontre was not truthful in his testimony. Robert and Lonnie both testified that Demontre wasn't at the scene of the fight. (33 RT 6762-6763; 39 RT 7771.) That Demontre may not have been present during the fight also is suggested by

others joined in. (36 RT 7232, 7235; 37 RT 7301-7302.) Demontre was the only witness who testified that Deshawn was involved in the fight. Demontre also was the only witness to testify that petitioner pulled a gun during the fight.

Demontre testified that he ditched school the day of the shootings, and spent much of the day at Darien H.'s apartment. (35 RT 7090-7092; 36 RT 7188; 37 RT 7284-7286.) Demontre testified that Darien was there the entire time. (37 RT 7289.) Darien testified that Demontre did not spend the day of the shootings at Darien's apartment. Darien spent the day in juvenile court and did not return home until after the shootings. (29 RT 5834-5835.)

## Robert M.'s Testimony Regarding the Shootings

Robert testified that Deshawn "hopped off" the wall he had been leaning against, pulled a gun and started shooting. (33 RT 6791, 6793-6799; 34 RT 6806-6807, 6849, 6853, 6863-6864, 6885.) Robert saw at least three or four muzzle flashes and heard three or four shots. (34 RT 6807, 6853, 6886.)

After almost everyone else ran from the scene, petitioner was observed sitting on the lawn, holding Hunt. (31 RT 6337; 34 RT 6815-6816, 6889-6890.) Hunt appeared to be dead. (31 RT 6337-6338; 34 RT 6817.) McCarthy was lying on the ground. He told Denman he couldn't

move his legs and needed help breathing. He told Denman that he was going to pass away. (31 RT 6343-6344, 6349.)

#### **Medical Evidence**

Demetrius Hunt suffered four gunshot wounds and died. (30 RT 5864-5870, 5878-5883, 5896, 5902, 5925-5926.) McCarthy suffered two gunshot wounds, including a fatal wound to his torso. (30 RT 5907-5912, 5913-5917, 5922.) The wounds were consistent with bullets from a medium to large caliber weapon. (30 RT 5946.)

#### **Physical Evidence**

Two guns, five expended 9mm casings and two expended .40-caliber casings were recovered from the scene of the shootings. (30 RT 5964, 5967, 6018, 6045-6046; 31 RT 6212-6214.) One of the pistols was a Beretta pistol with a magazine and four live rounds, including a round in the chamber. (30 RT 5997-6000, 6018-6019, 6026.) The other pistol was a .22-caliber Smith and Wesson semiautomatic pistol. (30 RT 6000-6001, 6098.)

The 9mm casings recovered at the scene of the shootings were Luger cartridge casings. (30 RT 5985-5990, 5993.) The .40-caliber casings were S&W casings. (30 RT 5995-5996.) A .22-caliber cartridge case was recovered from the ground north of apartment A in the parking lot. (30 RT 6008.) A live .40-caliber Smith & Wesson Wolf shell was found near the

caliber magazine with nine cartridges was found in the field. (30 RT 6015-6019.)

Department of Justice firearms examiner Nichols was unable to match any of the .40-caliber casings recovered at the scene to bullets test-fired from the .40-caliber Beretta. (31 RT 6234-6242, 6245-6246.) Nichols also attempted to test-fire a Smith & Wesson model .22A semiautomatic .22-caliber handgun, but the weapon misfired and did not correctly eject the rounds. (31 RT 6247-6252.)

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