In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

VINCE BRYAN SMITH,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S210898



Fourth Appellate District Division One, Case No. D060317 Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. BAF004719 The Honorable Patrick F. Magers, Judge

JAN 28 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Deputy

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

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT WAS PROPERLY CONVICTED UNDER THE NATURAL AND PROBABLE CONSEQUENCES THEORY OF AIDING AND ABETTING

This case turns on the extent of liability under the natural and probable consequences doctrine. The question is whether, under the natural and probable consequences doctrine, any principal in a target offense can be held liable for the reasonable and foreseeable nontarget crimes committed by another principal. The answer is yes. All principals are liable for the reasonable and foreseeable nontarget offenses committed by

any of them because the purpose of the doctrine is to hold principals responsible for the crimes they set in motion.

In arguing otherwise, appellant attempts to limit the reach of the natural and probable consequences doctrine by arguing it should only apply where the defendant aids and abets the "direct perpetrator" in the target offense, and that person goes on to commit the nontarget offense. As will be demonstrated below, appellant's claim fails at the outset even under this restrictive interpretation. Appellant was properly convicted because there was sufficient evidence he aided and abetted Mister, a direct perpetrator in the target offense, who then committed a foreseeable nontarget murder. Additionally, even if Mister was not a direct perpetrator in the target offense, there was sufficient evidence appellant was. As a direct perpetrator in the target offense, appellant is liable for the foreseeable nontarget crimes committed by another principal.

But even if appellant could show that both he and the shooter were solely aiders and abettors, appellant's claim fails for a more fundamental reason. The natural and probable consequences doctrine holds all principals, including aiders and abettors, liable for the foreseeable crimes committed by any principal. This court should reject appellant's contention to the contrary because it forces courts to make difficult and often arbitrary distinctions among participants to a crime; it fails to account for the many varied ways an unintended crime can result from an intended crime and thereby fails to serve the goal of the natural and probable consequences doctrine; and the existing limitations to the doctrine properly and adequately confine liability.

A. The doctrines at issue: aiding and abetting and natural and probable consequences

As this case involves the application of the doctrines of aiding and abetting and natural and probable consequences, a brief examination of each doctrine is necessary.

1. Aiding and abetting

The doctrine of aiding and abetting extends criminal liability to all principals. Penal Code section 31 governs aiding and abetting liability and provides that "[a]ll persons concerned in the commission of a crime," and all those who "aid and abet in its commission" are principals in any crime so committed. (Pen. Code, § 31.) Because of aiding and abetting liability, a person who aids and abets a crime is guilty of that crime even if someone else committed some or all of the criminal acts. (*People v. Prettyman* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 248, 259–260 (*Prettyman*).)

The underlying rationale for holding the aiding and abetting defendant liable is that he or she has forfeited the right to be treated as an individual by choosing to take part in the criminal activity of another. (*Prettyman*, supra, 14 Cal.4th at p. 259.) "[W]hen an accomplice chooses to become a part of the criminal activity of another, she says in essence, 'your acts are my acts,' and forfeits her personal identity." (*Ibid.*, citing Dressler, Reassessing the Theoretical Underpinnings of Accomplice Liability: New Solutions to an Old Problem (1985) 37 Hastings L.J. 91, 111, fn. omitted.)

This court established the guiding principles of aiding and abetting liability in *People v. Beeman* (1984) 35 Cal.3d 547 (*Beeman*). There, this court held that an aider and abettor must act with (1) knowledge of the criminal purpose of the perpetrator and (2) with an intent or purpose of committing, or of encouraging or facilitating commission of the offense. (*Beeman, supra*, 35 Cal.3d at p. 560.) Additionally, the aider and abettor must engage in conduct that actually aids, promotes, encourages, or

instigates the commission of the crime. (*Prettyman*, *supra*, 14 Cal.4th at p. 259; *People v. Perez* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1219, 1225 (*Perez*).) All in all, proof of aider and abettor liability "requires proof in three distinct areas: (a) the direct perpetrator's actus reus – a crime committed by the direct perpetrator, (b) the aider and abettor's mens rea – knowledge of the direct perpetrator's unlawful intent and an intent to assist in achieving those unlawful ends, and (c) the aider and abettor's actus reus – conduct by the aider and abettor that in fact assists the achievement of the crime." (*Perez*, *supra*, 35 Cal.4th at p. 1225.) Upon such proof, the aider and abettor becomes a principal to the crime and may be punished as such, even if he or she was not present during the commission of the offense. (*Beeman*, *supra*, 35 Cal.3d at p. 554.)

2. The natural and probable consequences doctrine

While the doctrine of aiding and abetting allows for all principals to be convicted of a crime, regardless of the extent of each one's involvement, the doctrine – standing alone – only holds principals liable for the crime actually aided and abetted. However, under the natural and probable consequences doctrine, "a person who aids and abets a confederate in the commission of a criminal act is liable not only for that crime (the target crime), but also for any other offense (nontarget crime) committed by the confederate as a 'natural and probable consequence' of the crime originally aided and abetted." (*Prettyman*, *supra*, 14 Cal.4th at p. 254.)

To be guilty under the natural and probable consequences doctrine, the prosecution must prove that (1) the defendant aided and abetted the commission of the target crime; (2) the defendant's confederate committed an offense other than the target crime; and (3) the nontarget offense perpetrated by the confederate was a "natural and probable consequence" of the target crime that the defendant assisted or encouraged. (*Prettyman*, *supra*, 14 Cal.4th at p. 254.)

This doctrine, which has been in existence since the common law, is based on the recognition that "aiders and abettors should be responsible for the criminal harms they have naturally, probably and foreseeably put in motion." (Prettyman, supra, 14 Cal.4th at p. 260, citing People v. Luparello (1986) 187 Cal. App.3d 410, 439.) The focus is on foreseeability and whether the nontarget offense was a foreseeable consequence of the target offense. Accordingly, aider and abettor liability under the natural and probable consequences doctrine is "not founded on the aider and abettor's subjective view of what might occur. Rather, liability is based on an 'objective analysis of causation'; i.e., whether a reasonable person under like circumstances would recognize that the crime was a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the act aided and abetted." (People v. Woods (1992) 8 Cal. App. 4th 1570, 1587; see also *People v. Godinez* (1992) 2 Cal. App. 4th 492, 501, fn. 3 ["The only requirement is that defendant share the intent to facilitate the target criminal act and that the crime committed be a foreseeable consequence of the target act"].)

Because the natural and probable consequences doctrine allows for aiders and abettors to be criminally liable for acts not their own, cases have described their liability as "vicarious." (E.g., People v. Croy (1985) 41 Cal.3d 1, 12, fn. 5.) As this court has since clarified, however, "the aider and abettor's guilt for the intended crime is not entirely vicarious. Rather, that guilt is based on a combination of the direct perpetrator's acts and the aider and abettor's own acts and own mental state." (People v. McCoy (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1111, 1117 (McCoy), italics in original.) As such, "an aider and abettor's liability for criminal conduct is of two kinds. First, an aider and abettor with the necessary mental state is guilty of the intended crime. Second, under the natural and probable consequences doctrine, an aider and abettor is guilty not only of the intended crime, but also 'for any other offense that was a "natural and probable consequence" of the crime

aided and abetted." (*Ibid.*) Thus, "if a person aids and abets only an intended assault, but a murder results, that person may be guilty of that murder even if unintended, if it is a natural and probable consequence of the intended assault." (*Ibid.*, citing *Prettyman*, *supra*, 14 Cal.4th at p. 267.)

B. Sufficient evidence supports appellant's conviction under the natural and probable consequences doctrine because the direct perpetrator of the nontarget offense was a direct perpetrator in the target offense or because appellant was a direct perpetrator in the target offense

Appellant first argues insufficient evidence supports his convictions because there was no evidence the victims were killed by any of the "actual participants" in the target crime and no evidence he aided and abetted anyone who fired the fatal shots. (ABOM 19–21.) According to appellant, the natural and probable consequences doctrine would only apply if appellant aided and abetted a direct perpetrator in the target offense, who then committed a foreseeable nontarget offense. (ABOM 20, 23.)

At the outset, appellant's claim fails because, even under his restrictive interpretation of the natural and probable consequences doctrine, appellant's convictions were proper. First, Mister – the person both parties argued was the presumed shooter – was a direct perpetrator in both the target offense and the nontarget murder. Appellant – at a minimum – aided and abetted Mister in facilitating the target offense. As such, there was sufficient evidence from which the jury could find appellant aided and abetted a direct perpetrator of the target offense who then committed a foreseeable nontarget crime. Second, even if Mister was not a direct perpetrator in the target offense, appellant was. As a direct perpetrator, appellant is liable for the reasonably foreseeable nontarget offenses committed by another principal. (*People v. Olguin* (1994) 31 Cal.App.4th

1355, 1376 (Olguin).) Either way, appellant was properly convicted under the natural and probable consequences doctrine.

1. Appellant aided and abetted the direct perpetrator of the target offense who then committed the foreseeable nontarget murder

In claiming his convictions were improper, appellant contends both he and the shooter were aiders and abettors to the target offense rather than direct perpetrators. (ABOM 23–24.) He contends because the jury was only asked to find that the nontarget offense was committed by a principal, rather than a direct perpetrator, the instructions "had the effect of extending liability under the natural and probable consequences doctrine to persons other than the direct perpetrators of the target offense based on the fact that that third party [the shooter] may have also aided and abetted the direct perpetrators of the target offense." (ABOM 23–24.) This claim relies on a misunderstanding of what constitutes an aider and abettor versus a direct perpetrator.

In *McCoy*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th 1111, this court analyzed aiding and abetting liability as compared to liability as a direct perpetrator and found the potential for substantial overlap between the two. In *McCoy*, two defendants – McCoy and Lakey – were convicted of first degree murder and two counts of attempted murder after both defendants shot at a group of people during a drive-by shooting. (*Id.* at p. 1115.) Both defendants fired guns, but the evidence showed McCoy fired the fatal shots. (*Ibid.*) McCoy's convictions were later reversed after the Court of Appeal found that the trial court prejudicially misinstructed the jury regarding McCoy's claim of unreasonable self defense. (*Ibid.*) The Court of Appeal likewise reversed Lakey's convictions, reasoning that, as an aider and abettor, Lakey could not be convicted of an offense greater than that of which the actual perpetrator was convicted. (*Ibid.*)

The question for this court was whether the Court of Appeal was required to reverse Lakey's convictions. (*McCoy*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 1116.) Ultimately, the court answered that question in the negative, reasoning that an aider and abettor's guilt was based on his or her own mens rea, which might be more or less culpable than that of the actual perpetrator. (*Id.* at p. 1122.)

In reaching this conclusion, this court observed it is frequently unclear when a person acts as an aider and abettor as opposed to a direct perpetrator:

[T]he dividing line between the actual perpetrator and the aider and abettor is often blurred. It is often an oversimplification to describe one person as the actual perpetrator and the other as the aider and abettor. When two or more persons commit a crime together, both may act in part as the actual perpetrator *and* in part as the aider and abettor of the other, who also acts in part as an actual perpetrator.

(McCoy, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 1120, italics in original.)

The court went on to give examples of potential "blurred line" scenarios, noting, "In another shooting case, one person might lure the victim into a trap while another fires the gun; in a stabbing case, one person might restrain the victim while the other does the stabbing. In either case, both participants would be direct perpetrators as well as aiders and abettors of the other." (McCoy, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 1120, italics added.) Ultimately, there is no need to determine whether an actor in such a situation was, in fact, an aider and abettor or a direct perpetrator: "The aider and abettor doctrine merely makes aiders and abettors liable for their accomplices' actions as well as their own. It obviates the necessity to decide who was the aider and abettor and who the direct perpetrator or to what extent each played which role." (Ibid.) Applying that analysis to the facts in McCoy, the court held that McCoy and Lakey were "to some extent both actual perpetrators and aiders and abettors," as both defendants had

fired handguns, even though only one of them was found to have fired the fatal shots. (*Id.* at p. 1122.) The court reasoned that once the jury found that Lakey had the requisite mens rea, "it could find him liable for both his and McCoy's acts, without having to distinguish between them." (*Ibid.*)

Applied to the instant facts, the jury could find that Mister was a direct perpetrator in both the target offenses (fighting in public, assault, and battery) and the nontarget offense (murder). Just like the hypothetical defendant in *McCoy* who lures a victim to the scene, Mister helped coordinate the fight with appellant and he made sure the other YAH members attended, telling them they had to fight "Gateway little homies." (35 RT 6975–6977; 38 RT 7600.) At the jump out, Mister told Ed and Aaron to start the fight, telling them, "you guys know what you guys got to do." (33 RT 6771, 6773.) Once the fighting began, there was sufficient evidence from which the jury could find that Mister was one of the participants actually throwing punches at McMorris during the fight. (35 RT 7059–7060.)

These actions are comparable to the "blurred line" situations in *McCoy*. Even removing from consideration the evidence that Mister directly punched McMorris, there is no meaningful difference between someone who lures a victim to the scene and someone who ensures that a fight will occur by getting everyone to the scene and directing others to start throwing punches. Appellant's suggestion that Mister was solely an aider and abettor is thus contrary to this court's analysis in *McCoy* and requires the sort of fine-toothed parsing among participants to a crime into mutually exclusive categories this court determined to be unnecessary. As this court recently reiterated in *People v. Delgado* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 480, "Whether or not the common law distinguished in [a] rigid manner between direct perpetrators and accomplices, our understanding of California law, as reflected in *McCoy*, is more nuanced. 'When two or more persons commit

a crime together, both may act in part as the actual perpetrator and in part as the aider and abettor of the other, who also acts in part as an actual perpetrator." (*Id.* at p. 489 [determining when a jury should be given instructions on aiding and abetting liability] citing *McCoy*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 1120.)

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